ted Nations

NERAL

AD HOC POLITICAL COMMITTEE 62nd

MEETING
Wednesday, 29 November 1950, at 3 p.m.

Lake Success, New York

(continued)

stine: repatriation of Palestine refugees and
ayment of compensation due to them {A/1323,
/1324, A/1325, A/1326, A/1346, A/1349,
/1366, A/1367, A/1367/Corr.l, A/1367/
A/AC.38/L.38, A/AC.38/L.57) (con-

[Item 20 (¢)]*

Mr. DEJANY (Saudi Arabia) referred to the pro-
ral discussion which had taken place at the 61st
ting and said that the delegation of Saudi Arabia
glad to fall in with the Chairman’s proposal as to
tem 20 (c), on the understanding that the draft
utions on which a vote would be taken at the con-
on of the debate on refugees would be concerned
usively with refugees.

The worsening of the conditions in which the
ees were living was a matter of grave concern
he Saudi Arabian delegation. The reports sub-
d by the Conciliation Committee (A/1367,
367/Corr.1, A/1367/Add.1) and by the United
ons Relief and Works Agency (A/1451, A/1451/
.1), mild as they were, must stir the emotions and
athy of all decent people, especially when it was
mbered that the refugees would have to pass still
her winter in caves and camps far from their homes
n conditions which had greatly deterioriated, owing
e lamentable state of their clothes, blankets and
. The relief measures proposed in the resolution
AC.38/1..52) which had been adopted by the Com-
e (57th meeting) were of a purely temporary
re and would barely enable the refugees to survive
oming winter.

The General Assembly had already decided how
efugee problem could be best settled when it adopted
SOlution 194 (III) of 11 December 1948, The main
itions of that settlement were laid down in para-
h 11 of the resolution, which did no more than

dicates the item number on the General Assembly agenda,

397

CONTENTS

Page

Palestine : repatriation of Palestine refugees and payment of compensation due
to them (A/1323, A/1324, A/1325, A/1326, A/1346, A/1349, A /1346,
A/1367, A/1367 /Corr.1, A/1367/Add.1, A/AC.38/1L.30, A/AC.38/L.57) .
................................ 3

Chairman: Mr. Victor A. BeLaAUNDE (Peru).

recognize and confirm established principles. Moreover,
the late Count Bernadotte, when United Nations Media-
tor in Palestine, had said? that the right of the refugees
to return to their homes at the earliest practical date
should be definitely established, and that it would be a
dangerous breach of elementary justice if the refugees
were denied that right while Jewish immigrants con-
tinued to flow into Palestine. Count Bernadotte had
also declared that the Government of Israel should re-
store private property to its Arab population and com-
pensate them when their property had been wantonly
destroyed.

4. The Arab refugees’ right to repatriation and com-
pensation was, moreover, based on acknowledged prin-
ciples of international law. Mr. John Marshall, Chief
Justice of the United States Supreme Court, had
summed up the matter by stating that in modern
times the conqueror generally displaced the sovereign -
authorities only ; the people came under a new authority
but their relations with each other and their property
rights remained undisturbed.

5. Mr. Dejany declared that the Government of Israel
made use of resolution 181 (II) of 29 November 1947
when it derived any advantage from it, but disavowed
it whenever it suited the purpose.

6. At the time of the first truce, the Minister for
Foreign Affairs of the Provisional Government of Israel
had recognized in a communication to the Mediator?
that General Assembly resolution 181 (II) was the
only international instrument affecting the question
of the future administration of Palestine. While that
document conferred certain privileges on the Israel
Government, it also imposed a number of obligations
on that State. For example, it declared that the Arab
population residing in the State of Israel would be en-
titled to opt for Israeli nationality. Of the 500,000 Arabs

1See Official Records of the General Assembly, Third
Session, Supplement No. 11, p. 17.

2 [bid., p. 24.

A/AC.38/SR.62



398

General Assembly—TFifth Session—Ad Hoe Political Committee

in that territory, about 70,000 had remained there and
only some 60,000 of the rest, who had taken no part
in the military operations but had fled in terror, had
returned to the areas placed under the control of Israel,
and their nationality and status still remained a moot
point, The fact that areas originally allotted to the Arabs
had been later occupied by Israeli troops should not
affect the status of the Arab population and, even if
those areas were regarded as conquered territory, the
principles of international law referred to above should
still be applicable.

7. Furthermore, the Arabs’ rights to repatriation and
compensation wetre also clear from articles 13 and 17
of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights.

8. Yet, at the 36th meeting of the Committee, Mr.
Eban had said that Israel did not recognize the legal
validity of paragraph 11 of resolution 194 (III). That
in itself was a challenge to the General Assembly as a
whole and to those delegations which had construed that
paragraph differently and had believed in the validity
of the various paragraphs of the resolution when the
question of Israel’s application for United Nations mem-
bership had been discussed.

9. The Saudi Arabian delegation considered that para-
graph 11 of General Assembly resolution 194 (III)
should be applied not merely because it was part of
an adopted resolution but also because it was based on
legal, moral and humanitarian principles recognized
throughout the civilized world.

10. The strong desire of the refugees to return to their
homes had been stressed in a number of reports. Even
where their homes had been destroyed, they wanted to
return to the districts which they had been forced to
leave. But the Government of Israel did not allow them
to do so. ~

11. Mr. Dejany then turned to the reasons advanced
by Israel against the return of the refugees. The Gov-
ernment of Israel claimed that the refugee problem
had arisen as a result of the invasion of Israel by forces
of the Arab States and that the latter had therefore
become responsible for the refugees. That, however,
was a false argument, for over 250,000 Arabs had fled
from their homes long before the Arab forces entered
Palestine. A large number also had left Palestine to
avoid the widespread Jewish atrocities. The details of
the infamous massacre of Arabs at Deir Yasin were
well known, but those of ‘a long series of terrorist acts
against the Arabs were not.

12. The pressure.of the terrorist forces had driven
large numbers of Palestinian Arabs to seek refuge in
other countries long before the Arab troops entered
Palestine. The Arab States had entered Palestine to
protect the Arab population from persecution by the
Jews of Palestine and by Jewish immigrants of all
nationalities, armed by foreign Powers and financed
from abroad. The entry of the forces of the Arab States
into Palestine could not, therefore, validly be held to
be the cause of the present terrible position of the
refugees.

13. The second claim of Israel was that the repatriation
of refugees should be carried out as an integral part of
the final peace settlement in Palestine. From that it
would appear that the Government of Israel was
attempting to use the refugees as a bargaining factor

"as reported in the New York Times, that the Tetury

in its discussions with the Conciliation Committe
had offered to repatriate a maximum of 100,000 refy
as part of the general peace settlement, and tq nges
them in regions chosen by the State of Israel iy o;:dtle

that they might take part in carrying out the SO'Cauer |
plan for the economic development of that State Tﬁd .
Conciliation Comthission had rejected that offer a's s
satisfactory. The former Director of the United Natiﬁﬁ;

Relief for Palestine Refugees had said on 6 July 1949

e It

of the refugees was an essential condition for maintaj

ing peace in the Middle East. In refusing to repatriartl.
more than 100,000 refugees, the Government of Israeel
was incurring a heavy responsibility.

14, The third objection put forward by Israel to th,
repatriation of Arab refugeas was that the repatriation
of a large number of Ardb refugees would create 3
minority problem which would endanger peace in Isrge]
and throughout the Middle East. But the Arabs hag
lived in Palestine for some thirteen centuries and could
hardly be regarded as a minority in the Middle Fast
After all, the Arabs were still the legal owners of most
of Palestine. Dr. Weizmann himself had once said that
there was ample room in Palestine for both Arabs and
Jews. At that time, the Jews had constituted a minority
in Palestine and it was difficult to conceive how the
existence of an Arab minority in Palestine could pos-
sibly give rise to apprehension.

15. Still another objection made by the Israel Govern-
ment was that the Arab part of Palestine had had its
own economic system which now no longer existed,
that much of the Arab property had been destroyed and
that it would be advisable to resettle the Arabs among
people with whom they had more affinity. In that con-
nexion it should be made clear that the Arab refugees
were not all of the same class. They were not all farmers
and peasants but included doctors, lawyers, teachers,
merchants and business men who had lived in the towns
of Palestine and whose social and cultural level had
been in many respects as high as that of the people of
any other civilized country.

16. For centuries past and during the time of the
United Kingdom administration of Palestine, the Arabs
working on the land and those employed in the towns
had worked hand in hand, and that state of affairs had
not been affected or interrupted by Jewish immigration.
No change in government, no change in government
policy could be so radical or so absolute as to make a
revival of that way of living impossible. Nor could it be
said that the standard of living of thousands of Jews
in Palestine was any whit higher or better than that
of the average Palestinian Arab. In any event, such
discriminatory methods of selecting a population coul
not be condoned, for all countries included the lowly
and the unpretentious among their citizens. Further-
mote, in background, culture, religion and language,
there was more unity among the Arabs of Palestine
than among the immigrant Jews who had no othef
common bond but religion. There were many examples
in the world to show that peoples of different back-
grounds, languages and religions could live in perfect
harmony ; an outstanding example was provided by the
United States of America. He therefore considered that
the minority objection of the Tsrael Government was
valueless,



62nd Meeting—29 November 1950

399

Then there was the question of destroyed Arab
erty, and the occupation of undamaged property
new Jewish immigrants. From a practical angle, it
1ld have seemed unnecessary for such reasons to bar
manently the return of the refugees to their native
ntry. The funds voted by the Israel Government
compensation for destroyed property could have been
d to build new homes for Jewish immigrants accord-
to their requirements. Even if the housing shortage
been most acute, many of the Arab owners might
| have been prepared to wait a year or so rather
n forfeit forever their right to return to their country.

In connexion with that question, the Israel Gov-
ment had passed what was known as the Absentee
operty Law. Under that law, a “Custodian of Absen-
Property” had been appointed and the property of
refugee Arabs had been put under his administra-
n. At first sight, the provisions of the new law might
m reasonable, but a closer scrutiny revealed its real
entions, which were the liquidation and disposal of
property in question in a most unjust manner.

Although the Custodian was bound to protect the
perty of absent persons, there was no real restric-
i on his right to dispose of real estate. The definition
“absentee” included not only the Arabs who had left
estine during the war but also those who since the
sation of hostilities had been allowed to return to
territories placed under the authority of the State
Israel. In that way more than half of the Arabs who
re now-in Israel were “absentees” for purposes of

ab population of Palestine of its property. The Custo-
n was leasing Arab land at the unusually low rate
half a Palestinian pound per dunum. Priority was
ng given to Jewish ex-servicemen and immigrants.
hen 1t was remembered that the Arabs had left ex-
mely productive land, parts of which provided ap-
ximately one ton of olives for each three and three-
rters dunum and of which the rent was less than two
aeli pounds a year, it was easy to assess the enormous
ms made by the lessee at the expense of the Arabs,
lawful owners of the olive groves.

The law also provided for sale of the property of
ent persons under particularly adverse conditions,
Arab property was often sold for one-third or one-
tter of its true value. The law placed some apparent
trictions on the powers of the Custodian, but also
horized him to sell Arab property to the authorities
tying out the Palestine development programmes.
ose authorities were themselves authorized to trans-
the property to various governmental agencies and
private individuals, In practice, in view of the low
le of prices charged for Arab land, the transaction
s nothing more or less than confiscation. The State
Israel had even sold some Arab property for foreign
tency. Those facts explained why Israel did not wish
 Arab refugees to return to their country.

The law of which he had spoken would utterly
vent the repatriation of many landowners. Even if
property had belonged to foreigners or enemies, the
ael Government would not have been justified in dis-
ing of it in that way. The Arab refugees’ right to
property had, however, been recognized not only
the Mediator but also by the General Assembly when
had adopted resolution 194 (III). Since the recogni-

law. The aim of the law had been to despoil the

tion of that absolute right, nothing had occurred to
justify its modification. -

22. Since the State of Israel had not carried out
General Assembly resolution 194 (IIT), he urged the
General Assembly to take all necessary measures to
preserve the refugees’ right to property and to enable
them to return to their country. There was no hope
that the refugee problem would solve itself, Its solution
lay in the strict application of paragraph 11 of resolution
194 (III) adopted in 1948 by the General Assembly.
That resolution was based on legal, moral and humani-
tarian principles. The General Assembly must reaffirm
those principles and do what was necessary to put them
into effect.

23. Mr. TAFAZZUL ALI (Pakistan) recalled that
when, at the end of the United Kingdom Mandate, the
United Nations had undertaken ¢8-settle the Palestine
problem, it had by doing so assumed responsibility for
clearing up the difficult situation caused by the conflict
between Zionist aspirations and the rights of the in-
habitants of Palestine. The General Assembly had at-
tempted to solve the problem by adopting on 29 Novem-
ber 1947 resolution 181 (II) which included a plan for
the partition of Palestine and provision for economic
union. The Jews had been favoured in the partition
since they had received the most fertile land, whereas
the Arabs had been granted only the barren regions of
Western Galilee and the hills of Samaria and Judea.
Jerusalem, the Holy City of three great religions, was
to have been internationalized. There had remained,
however, the problem of protecting the rights of 400,000
Arabs left in the State of Israel which was to be set
up. The General Assembly had hoped to find a solution
by asking the Jewish provisional government to make
the solemn declaration appearing in section C of reso-
lution 181 (II), according to which no discrimination
of any kind was to be made between the inhabitants on
the ground of race, religion, language or sex. No ex-
propriation of land owned by an Arab in the Jewish
State was to be allowed except for public purposes.
In all cases of expropriation full compensation as fixed
by the Supreme Court was to be paid before disposses-
sion. The General Assembly had wished to lay still
greater emphasis on the right of the Arab minority: it
had therefore stated that the stipulations contained in
the declaration were to be recognized as fundamental
laws of the State. No law, regulation or official action
was to conflict or interfere with those stipulations; nor
was any law, regulation or official action to prevail over
them.

24. The extent to which the Government of Israel had
fulfilled its obligations was well known to the General
Assembly. The promise that it would fulfil them had
been one of the arguments on which Israel had based
its claims to statehood. However, even before the end
of the United Kingdom Mandate in Palestine, acts of
violence and terrorism had compelled nearly 300,000
Arabs to abandon their homes in the area assigned to
Israel. After the proclamation of the State of Israel and
the beginning of the war in Palestine, the activity of
terrorist groups, which showed the most complete con-
tempt for the laws and customs of war and for humani-
tarian principles, had increased the number of refugees
to 800,000. Thus had arisen the tragic problem of the
Palestine refugees and the question of their fundamental



400

General Assembly—Fifth Session—Ad Hoe Political Commitiee

rights to return to their homes, to be repossessed of
their property, and to live in freedom and security.

25. To those who asked whether the international com-
munity was bound to ensure observance of those rights,
he would reply by recalling the provisions of the Charter,
of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, and of
section C, chapter 4, of resolution 181 (II), according
to which the rights of minorities should be under the
guarantee of the United Nations, and no modification
should be made in them without the assent of the
General Assembly, By guaranteeing the observance of
those rights the General Assembly had assumed a re-
sponsibility, and that was the cause for which the late
Count Bernadotte, the United Nations Mediator, had
given his life in order to ensure the peaceful settlement
of the situation in Palestine. Count Bernadotte had em-
phasized in his progress report® that the international
community would continue to be responsible for the
fate of the refugees until the problem was finally settled.
The General Assembly had, besides, recognized that
responsibility by adopting on 11 December 1948 its
resolution 194 (II1), which provided in paragraph 11
that refugees wishing to return to their homes should
be permitted to do so at the earliest practicable date,
and that compensation should be paid for the property
of those choosing not to return.

26. The Conciliation Commission set up by the same
resolution was given the task of facilitating the repatria-
tion and resettlement of the refugees, their economic
and social rehabilitation, and the payment of the com-
pensation due to them. The Conciliation Commission
had made every effort to carry out its task and had
met with a conciliatory attitude on the part of the Arab
States, which had agreed that, in the settlement of their
conflict with Israel, the refugee problem should not
be the first to be solved, and had visualized the resettle-
ment in Arab countries of the refugees who were not
repatriated.

27. The Government of Israel had taken up quite a
different position. As was apparent from paragraph 27
of chapter III of the Conciliation Commission’s report
(A/1367), it had replied to the proposal for the repa-
triation and resettlement of the refugees by saying that
it looked for the solution of the problem through re-
settlement of the refugees in Arab countries, and that
it could not undertake in advance to carry out the plan
proposed by the Commission. The Prime Minister of
Israel, Mr. Ben-Gurion, had made a statement to the
same effect. Thus the efforts made by the Commission
to induce the Israel Government to consider the fun-
damental rights of the Arabs had remained useless:

28. He emphasized the illogicality of the Israel Gov-
ernment, which stated on the one hand that it could not
accept more than 100,000 refugees because of its eco-
nomic situation, and on the other hand allowed the un-
restricted immigration of Jews from all over the world.
Those immigrants were not nationals of the State of
Israel. They had no right over the land and homes of
the Arab refugees, who were indisputably nationals of
Israel. As could be seen from the memorandum sub-
mitted to the Technical Committee of the Conciliation
Commission by Mr. Meron, of the Economic Division
of the Israel Ministry for Foreign Affairs (A/1367,
annex IV, part IIT), the Government of Israel had

8 Ibid., p. 17.

partly solved the immigrants’ housing problem by giv
ing them houses abandoned by the Arab refugees, Th-
memorandum added that immigration was contig ¢
at the rate of 800 persons a day, a proof that the r
of the Arab refugees to their former homes wag
impossible. Those measures had been adopted in flagrang
contradiction of paragraph 8, chapter 2, section ¢ of
resolution 181 (II), prohibiting the expropriatiop of
Arab property in Israel except in the public interegt
Whereas, according to the statements of the Israe] rep.'
resentatives to the Conciliation Commission the coyy.
try’s economic situation forbade the return of mope
than 100,000 refugees, Mr. Meron’s memorandyy,
showed that the population of Israel had increased by
more than 50 per cent—an increase of more than 300,000
inhabitants. Since 1948 the Jewish population of Ispael
had risen from 650,000 to 1,200,000, and the cotintry’s
economy had not prevented tpe absorption of 550,000
immigrants in two years.

29. In the circumstances it was impossible to belieye
the statement of the Israel representative that the re.
patriation of the Arab refugees was impossible even if
the international community gave the most generoys
assistance to Israel. It was impossible to forget the
appeal of the late Count Bernadotte, who had said that
it would be an offence against the most elementary
justice if the refugees, innocent victims of the conflict,
were denied the right to return to their homes while
Jewish immigrants flowed into Palestine. The inter-
national community must judgé whether the attitude
of the Israel Government was not a violation of Article
17 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights,
which provided that no one should be arbitrarily de-
prived of his property, whether it did not violate all the
inalienable human rights upon which were based free-
dom, justice and the peace of the world. The Israel
representative had said that his government found it
possible to admit a large number of Jewish immigrants
while at the same time refusing to repatriate the Arab
refugees, because those immigrants had cultural, re-
ligious and spiritual links with the Jews of Israel. That
declaration was a tacit admission that the Israel Govern-
ment was applying a policy of discrimination against
the Arab refugees and sacrificing their fundamental
rights to the ambitions of the Israelis. Such discrimina-
tion was a flagrant violation of section C of resolution
181 (II), which provided that there should be no dis-
crimination on grounds of race, religion, etc.,, and a
challenge to the United Nations, which had pledged
itself to see that those basic provisions were respected.
The policy was also contrary to Israel’s obligations as
a Member of the United Nations under Article 55 ¢
of the Charter. The General Assembly should therefore
be even more perturbed by that policy than it had been
with regard to respect for human rights in Bulgaria,
Romania, and Hungary. ‘

30. The Arab refugee problem could be solved only
if it were looked at from a moral and humanitarian
point of view. The Israel Government gave no sign 0

such an attitude. The two years which had elapsed
seemed only to have hardened its heart against any
appeal of that kind. In that connexion he read extracts
from the book Promise and Fulfilment—Palestine 1917
to 1949 by the contemporary Jewish writer Arthuf
Koestler.* That fervent supporter of Zionism said that

uing
etury
Quite

4+ MacMillan, London, 1949,



62nd Meeting—29 November 1950

401

the Jews the Arabs were a political and not a human
nd moral problem. For the Jews, Palestine was the
romised land, and the presence of the Arabs was simply
n accident. The Jews, said Koestler, meant no harm
the Arabs provided that the Arabs did not get in
eir way. Their purpose was simply to exclude the
rabs from their economy. The report of the Concilia-
on Commission confirmed that statement ; it was clear
om paragraph 13 of chapter IIT of the report that the
rael Government was seeking to derive political ad-
antage from the poverty of the Arab refugees. It was
sing the need of the refugees to return to their homes
a lever to secure the incorporation of the Gaza region
to Israel, thus making political capital out of the
retchedness of the refugees in order to exact territorial
ins.

He then turned to the arguments which the Israel
overnment had put forward in justification. As was
ated in paragraph 8 of chapter IIT of the Conciliation
ommission’s report, the Israel Government had replied
the request addressed to it to permit the refugees to
turn to their homes by calling attention to the passage
paragraph 11 of General Assembly resolution 194
IIT) which provided that the refugees must live at
ace with their neighbours. Thus, as the Israel repre-
ntative had said in his speech on 7 November 1950
the Ad Hoc Political Committee (35th meeting), the
Israel Government was making the re-establishment of
ace a condition of the return of the refugees, Para-
aphs 5 and 6 of resolution 194 (III), which dealt
ith the settlement of the Palestine question as a whole
d the re-establishment of peace, had no direct con-
xion with paragraph 11, which was concerned with
e right of the refugees to return to their homes. There
as therefore no justification for saying, as the Israel
presentative had said, that the provisions of paragraph
were valid only as part of a final settlement of the
hole problem. If that method of reasoning was adopted,
en paragraphs 7, 8, 9 and 10 of the resolution, which
alt with the Holy Places, the Jerusalem area, and
her matters, must be applied as part of a general
settlement of the problem. The General Assembly had
amined the question of the Holy Places and of Jeru-
lem apart from the problem of a peaceful settlement
tween Israel and the Arab States. Israel had made
objection to that method and thus had not claimed
that the application of paragraphs 7, 8, 9 and 10 de-
ended on the final establishment of peace in Palestine.
Therefore the Israel Government was not justified in
aking such a claim with regard to paragraph 11. That
paragraph was independent. Moreover, once a question
was covered by both general and specific provisions,
the specific provisions always prevailed over the general.
Therefore, even if the Israel representative’s interpre-
tation of the words “outstanding matters” in paragraph
5 of resolution 194 (III) were accepted, the canons of
gal interpretation applied to similar cases nevertheless
ade paragraph 11 independent of paragraphs 5 and 6.
here was therefore no justification for claiming that
he return of the Arab refugees to their homes was con-

gent upon the establishment of peace between Israel
and the Arab States. '

Moreover, the problem of the refugees was in no
Way an outstanding question between the State of Israel
and the neighbouring States, except in so far as it
tended to aggravate the tension between them, The out-

standing question. was between Israel and the Arab
refugees. According to chapter 3, section C of resolution
181 (II), those Arabs whose home or residence was
in territory occupied by Israel became Israeli citizens
and as such must enjoy full civil and political rights.
Thus the problem was reduced to a dispute between
Israel and its own nationals. However, the responsibility
for ensuring compliance with the rights of the refugees
to repatriation and compensation rested with the United
Nations, since the United Nations had guaranteed those
rights.

33. The problem of the repatriation of the refugees
not only concerned the right of the refugees to return
to their homes: it also concerned respect for human
rights and fundamental freedoms, respect for justice and
international law, and the carrying out of United Na-
tions responsibilities. The peoples of the entire world,

- and particularly the peoples of Asia who had just freed

themselves from centuries of colonial rule, were fol-
lowing the development of the problem with hope and
apprehension. Their apprehension was not unfounded,
for, when the problem of Palestine was studied by the
General Assembly, the most elementary and essential
facts of the situation were ignored or passed over in
silence. It had been claimed that the establishment of
a Jewish State in Palestine would be an act of historic
justice because of the links which the Jewish people
had had from time immemorial with Palestine, although
nineteen centuries had elapsed since that time and it
might be thought that so long an occupation of the area
by the Arabs would entitle them to be considered
masters of their own country.

34. Moreover, as Arthur Koestler had pointed out in
his book already quoted, the existence of the State of
Israel was based on a fait accompli at the expense of
the original population of Palestine. If the history of
Israel were examined from the time of the United King-
dom Mandate to the establishment of an independent
State of Israel, and the attitude of Israel compared with
those colonial countries which had conquered other
peoples, it was undeniable—and even Koestler pointed
it out—that grave injustice had been done to the Arabs.

35. A well-known principle of international law laid
down that agreements contrary to the provisions of
pre-existing treaties were invalid. Therefore the Balfour
Declaration was null and void, since it contravened the
promises made by the Allies to the Arabs and had been
proclaimed without consultation with the Arabs or their
consent. As Koestler also said, it was true that the Arabs
had vast under-populated territories and that the Jews
had none, that the Arabs were a backward and the Jews
a forward people. It was also true that the Jews claimed
that God himself had given them Palestine, but un-
deniably such reasons had never before been invoked
for establishing a new State. '

36. The League of Nations had adopted the Balfour
Declaration and had given the United Kingdom a Man-
date over Palestine. That had, in fact, meant that the
League of Nations took away Palestine from its right-
ful owners in order to give asylum to the Jews. More-
over, the concept of a “national home” which had come
into being at that time was a curious notion which had
no foundation in law but yet had been the object of an
international treaty. Furthermore, the Mandate con-
tained two absolutely contradictory provisions: a prom-



402 General Assembly—TFifth Session—Ad Hoc Political Committee

ise for a “national home for the Jews” in an Arab
country, and a guarantee of Arab rights.

37. Despite the Atlantic Charter, despite the statement
of President Truman on 27 October 1947, despite the
Charter of the United Nations, the people of Palestine
had not been able to exercise their right of self-deter-
mination. The will of one-third of the population had
prevailed over that of the two-thirds majority. Mr.
Bevin, Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, had em-
phasized the contradictory nature of the Mandate in
a speech made before the House of Commons on 25
February 1947, and had added that the Mandate had
virtually provided for the invasion of the country by
thousands of immigrants. The result of the adoption of
resolution 181 (II) had been, as a distinguished Zionist
writer and journalist had said, that a colonial solution
had been imposed on Palestine. It was therefore no
coincidence that all but one of the countries of Asia,
representing one-third of mankind, had opposed that
solution and that other countries, representing another
third, had abstained.

38. The.Pakistan delegation would support any pro-
posal likely to prove most effective in securing the ob-
servance of the human rights of the Arab refugees. It
appealed to the Israel representative to view the refugee
problem as a human and not a political one. The Israel
Government could not deny their most fundamental
rights to 800,000 human beings, driven from their homes

through no fault of their own, abandoned to misery and -

desolation, because they professed a different faith. Such
a -policy, contrary to the Charter and to international
law, could only deepen the gulf separating Israel from
its neighbours and increase the tension existing in an
area which was already a storm centre of the world, a
tension which Israel must be as anxious as any country
to bring to an end as soon as possible. The Israel repre-
sentative had said that his government was anxious for
a permanent settlement of the problem. The Pakistan
delegation was convinced that only the return of the
refugees to their homes or the payment of compensa-
tion to those who did not wish to return constituted a
just and humane solution and one which should be
adopted ; but even such a solution could- only be per-
manent if put into effect in a spirit of human brother-
hood. : :

39. MOSTAFA Bey (Lgypt) recalled that it had been
the Egyptian Government which, when the efforts made
for the past two years by the Conciliation Commission
had broken down, had requested the inclusion, in the
agenda of the current session of the General Assembly,
of the implementation of General' Assembly resolutions
regarding the repatriation of refugees and the payment
of compensation due to them (A/1323). He summarized
briefly the main points of the draft resolution submitted
by his delegation (A/AC.38/1.30) to promote com-
pliance with the relevant resolutions.

40. He explained that the draft resolution had been
submitted before the Conciliation Commission had pre-
sented its report to the Committee. As things stood, his
delegation had no objection to the proposal in the joint
draft resolution submitted by France, Turkey, the
United Kingdom and the United States (A/AC.38/
L.57) that the Conciliation Commission should be re-
tained ; neither did it object to the attribution to the
Conciliation Commission of the functions provided for
in its own draft resolution.

41. He was glad to note that the joint draft resolutigy
covered in principle some of the underlying purposes of
the Egyptian draft resolution. It provided, though i,
somewhat vague and ambiguous terms, for the repatri,.
tion of refugees and the payment of the compensatioy
due to them. Nevertheless, it contained two defects.
the weakness of its wording and the implication thy;
the repatriation of the refugees would result in the copy,.
plete settlement of the Palestine problem. As the repre-
sentatives of Saudi Arabia and Pakistan had pointeq
out, there was no connexion between the two questiong,

42. The United Kingdom representative had stateq
(61st meeting) that the first paragraph of the preampje
to the Egyptian draft resolution should refer to the
whole of the resolution of 11 December 1948 ingtea
of only to its paragraph 11. His delegation considered,
however, that the repatriation of the refugees was ap
inherent right which was not cohtfngent upon the soly-
tion of other problems.

43. The United Kingdom representative had also in-
quired whether it was really in the interests of the Ara
refugees that they should return to Israel, in view of
the economic conditions in that country; and the repre-
sentative of Israel had stated recently (35th meeting)
that it was utopian to contemplate the repatriation of
the refugees. Mostafa Bey declared that the United
Kingdom, as the former Mandatory Power, was re-
sponsible for the difficult position in the Middle East
and had thus originally created the refugee problem.
44, When the plan for the partition of Palestine had
been adopted on 29 November 1947, the Zionists had
resolved to get rid of the Arabs living in the territory
granted to the Jewish State. They had stuck at nothing
in pursuit of that aim and had carried out persecutions
as horrible as Hitler’s. They had taken advantage of
the chaos following the end of the United Kingdom
Mandate on 14 May 1949 to establish their State and,
by spreading terror throughout the country, had forced
the defenceless Arab population to abandon the homes
they had lived in for centuries, That was how the refugee
problem had arisen.

45. The preamble to the Egyptian draft resolution
simply reproduced texts on the same subject from other
resolutions adopted by the United Nations; for the
General Assembly had adopted several resolutions
recognizing that refugees had the right to repatriation.
46. The second paragraph of the preamble noted that
the solution recommended in paragraph 11 of resolution
194 (III) was just and in harmony with the principles
of the United Nations.

47. Operative paragraph 1 simply established the
measures which should be taken to enable the refugees
to return to their homes and to live in Israel under the
protection of the principles mentioned. Paragraph 2,
which demanded binding guarantees for the treatment
of refugees, expressed the concern of the United Nations
for the observance of human rights. Paragraph 7
simply reproduced provisions contained in other reso-
lutions, especially that adopted by the Security Council
on 15 July 1948.° There was no need to comment ont
the other paragraphs of the draft resolution.

48. Ever since the Conciliation Commission had been
set up, the Arab States bordering on Palestine had made

5 See Official Records of the Security Council, Third Year,
Supplement for July 1948, document S/902,




62nd Meeting—29 November 1950

403

very effort to collaborate with it, and the very first
aterviews between the governments of those States and
he Commission had made clear that the refugee ques-
on was the key to the solution of the whole problem.
eace and stability in the Middle East, the economic
evelopment of that area and its participation in the
#ort to consolidate world peace depended to a large
«fent upon a just and lasting solution of the refugee
roblem. That was why the Arab States had always
asisted on the need to allow the refugees to return home
nd to pay them the compensation due to them. In that
pirit the Arab States had agreed to discuss all the as-
ects of the Palestine question and had submitted to
e Conciliation Commission two constructive proposals
shich had thus far remained without effect. The situa-
on was therefore still the same, The few refugees who
ad been authorized to return under the policy which
he Conciliation Commission, curiously enough, called
the reuniting of families separated as a result of the
ostilities” had speedily been turned back in circum-
nces which had in fact recently led the Security
uncil to order an investigation.®

9 The statements made by the Conciliation Com-
sission describing the terrible plight of the refugees
ad been corroborated by the Director of the Relief and
Works Agency (31st meeting).

0. The Conciliation Commission had asked the Gov-
rment of Israel if it would agree to allow the refugees
o wished to return home to do so. Without replying
irectly to that question, Mr. Ben-Gurion had drawn
he Commission’s attention to paragraph 11 of resolu-
n 194 (TI1) of 11 December 1948 and in particular to
statement that the refugees who returned to their
mes should live at peace with their neighbours. He
added that the passage made the return of the
ugees contingent on the establishment of peace. Such
tatement was tantamount to a categorical refusal.

The Conciliation Commission had not mentioned
its report that Egypt had asked for an inquiry into
fate of the Arab population of territories under
ish occupation. Moreover, the Conciliation Com-
sion remained silent on the action to be taken on
various proposals made by the Arab States, for
simple reason that the Jewish authorities had re-
ed to accept them, although they were in complete
formity with the resolution of 11 December 1948
with the Lausanne Protocol of 12 May 1949,

History showed, however, that the most relentless
ermination had never led to the solution of a prob-
. In the case at issue, the policy of extermination
sued by the Zionists had simply inspired in the
abs hatred and a desire for revenge.

The situation had become progressively worse
h the Jewish immigration into Palestine. During
negotiations the United Nations Mediator had
derstood the apprehensions of the Arab States about
establishment of a Jewish State at the very centre
the Arab world, and had recognized that those ap-
hensions were largely justified. The United Nations
the Powers which supported the Zionists should
ect on the factors which had given rise to those
rehensions if they wished to preserve peace and
bility in the Middle East. There was no longer a

Ibid., Fifth Year, No. 66,

question of granting the Jews a symbolic home in
Palestine, for they had created a State which could
serve as a base for an offensive of infiltration against
the Arab States, launched under the pressure of over-
population resulting from mass immigration.

54. The CHAIRMAN remarked to the Egyptian
representative that the discussion dealt only with sub-
item 20 (c) of the General Assembly agenda; represen-
tatives should confine themselves to the discussion of
that purely legal question and avoid mentioning any
political considerations which might evoke replies also
outside the scope of the discussion.

55. MOSTAFA Bey (Egypt) explained that he was
dealing with the whole of the question so as to give
members of the Committee a complete picture of the
situation. 5

56. Resuming his statement, he observed that the
failure of the Conciliation Commission was due to the
policy of the fait accompli pursued by the Jews with the
encouragement of certain great Powers. Indeed, Israel’s
attitude since the beginning of the Palestine conflict
had constituted an uninterrupted series of violations of
the principles and purposes of the United Nations and
of the resolutions of its organs. The Egyptian delega-
tion regretted therefore that the Conciliation Commis-
sion gave the impression of sharing to some extent the
views of the Zionists. Despite the provocative policy
of the Zionists, however, the Arab States had given
assurances of their peaceful intentions.

57. The Egyptian delegation hoped that, taking into
consideration all the elements of the problem, the
General Assembly would act in conformity with the
urgent requirements of peace and stability in the Middle
East; those requirements could not be met until the
refugee problem was settled in a just and lasting manner,
in conformity with the resolutions of the United Nations.

58. Mr. ROSS (United States of America) said that
his delegation had examined the Egyptian draft reso-
lution most carefully. The proposal reflected Egypt’s
deep concern with the fate of hundreds of thousands
of refugees who were innocent victims of the Palestine
conflict. Those feelings were certainly shared by all the
members of the Committee, the more so as very little
progress had been made regarding the repatriation of
those unfortunate people, the payment of the compen-
sation due to them, their resettlement and their economic
and social rehabilitation. As the United Kingdom rep-
resentative had pointed out, however, the international
community would not go on helping those refugees for-
ever (61st meeting).

59, The Egyptian draft resolution advocated a method
which should lead to the settlement of some aspects of
that complex problem—repatriation and compensation;
it proposed the establishment of a United Nations Office
for the repatriation and compensation of Palestine
refugees.

60. The United States delegation wondered whether
it was really necessary and advisable to create a new
organ for that purpose. The joint draft resolution
(A/AC.38/1..57) advocated another method, the es-
tablishment of an Office under the direction of the Con-
ciliation Commission. He hoped that the Egyptian dele-
gation and the other Arab delegations would regard
that method as the most effective means of attaining



404

General Assembly—Fifth Session—Ad Hoc Political Committee

the objective so dear to their heart, the safeguarding
of the refugees’ most essential interests.

61. The United States delegation realized how deep
were the wounds inflicted by the Palestine conflict in
the Near East; it understood the passions that had
been unleashed by that conflict and did not expect
miracles in the final settlement of the problems thus
created. His delegation believed, however, that the
United Nations had played an important part in the
measures which had already been taken to erase the
traces of that war, It gladly took the opportunity of
paying tribute to the work of the late Count Bernadotte,
and to the devotion of his successor, Mr. Ralph Bunche
and his associates, and of General Riley, who was now
supervising the execution of the armistice agreements
which had been made possible by the untiring efforts of
his predecessors. The Conciliation Commission had
also helped to promote an understanding between the
parties.

62. The task of the United Nations was to facilitate
the establishment of peace throughout the world by all
means at its disposal. To the utmost of its ability it
should therefore help to improve matters whenever a
tense situation arose in any part of the world. Conse-
quently, for the sake of peace and security it should
redouble its efforts to solve the present problem. That
was the principle which had guided his delegation when
it had taken part in the preparation of the joint draft
resolution,

63. His delegation believed that during the past year
the governments concerned had become more conscious
of the need for better relations between them. As the
Conciliation Commission had pointed out, the indefinite
prolongation of an armistice only prejudiced the inter-
ests of all parties, both jointly and severally. The aim
of the joint draft resolution was to lay the bhasis for
better relations; it recognized that the refugee problem
had definite repercussions on peace and stability in the
Near East; together with humane considerations, that
fact made the solution of the problem even more urgent.

64. The resolution (A/AC.38/1.52) adopted by the
Ad Hoc Political Committee on 22 November 1950
(57th meeting) opened the way to a permanent integra-
tion of the refugees through repatriation and resettle-
ment. His delegation had welcomed the statement of the
Israel Government’s intention to contribute to the re-
integration fund established under the resolution.

65. In the interest of the refugees themselves the joint
draft resolution proposed the establishment of an Office
which, under the direction of the Conciliation Com-
mission, would make such arrangements as it might
consider necessary, take all the measures listed in the
resolution, and work in close  co-operation with the
United Nations Relief and Works Agency.

66. The joint draft resolution also reflected the con-
cern felt by all that the parties had not succeeded in
settling finally all their outstanding differences. One of
its aims was to promote better relations between the
governments of the area by inviting them to start direct
negotiations immediately, either under the auspices of

the Conciliation Commission or independently of it
Such contacts had practically been non-existent fo,
the past two years; they would enable the partieg to
realize that there existed a vast field in which agree.
ment could be reached. Better understanding betweey
the parties would undeniably serve the interests of eacy,
It was reasonable to expect that they should seek 4.
gether means for the peaceful settlement of their djs.
putes. By calling upon them to start such negotiationg
the authors of the joint draft resolution had not over.
looked that success would in'the last resort depend upon
the good will of the parties; it was that good will which,
the parties concerned were in fact asked to show.

67. Mr. AMMOUN (Lebanon) speaking on a point
of order, pointed out that the discussion dealt only with
sub-item 20 (c¢) of the General Assembly agenda, The
question was a purely legal one, so that by speaking of
peace negotiations the United States representative wag
shifting the problem to political ground and going out-
side the limits of the discussion.

68. MOSTAFA Bey (Egypt) also speaking on a point
of order, recalled that when he had been making his own
statement the Chairman had asked him to confine him-
self to the point under discussion. The armistice agree-
ments just mentioned by the United States representa-
tive were not under discussion.

69. The CHAIRMAN asked the United States repre-
sentative not to touch upon the political aspect of the
problem ; political questions might be raised during the
discussion on sub-item 20 (d) of the agenda.

70. Mr. MORA (Uruguay) thought it would be use-
ful, in order to avoid any confusion, to clarify how the
Committee wished to proceed with the examination of
the question. The joint draft resolution touched upon
certain aspects which were also mentioned in the report
of the Conciliation Commission.

71. Mr. ROSS (United States of America) observed
that the remarks he had made had a direct bearing on
the problem under discussion. None the less he would
comply with the Chairman’s desire.

72. Continuing his statement, he said that the joint
draft resolution went to the very heart of the problem
without assuming a radical character. It contained no
magic formula, but its authors were convinced that a
sincere compliance with it would contribute to the es-
tablishment of better relations between Israel and the
Arab States and promote the welfare of the Palestine
refugees. During the discussion they had had with the
parties before submitting their text, the authors of the
draft resolution had asked the Arab States ar}d Israel
to try to understand each other’s points of view and,
should the draft resolution be adopted by the Comimittee,
to co-operate in its execution.

73. His delegation hoped that the Committee.woulf!
realize the advantages of the joint draft resolution for
the establishment of peace in the Near East and the wel-
fare of the refugees, and be able to adopt it.

The meeting rose at 6 p.m.

Printed in U.S.A.

A—40269—January 1951—3,400






